### Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-7-2014

## Gordon v. Hedrick Appellant's Brief Dckt. 42191

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the Case.

This appeal concerns an action filed by Respondent Roger Carl Gordon ("Gordon") for the custody of a minor child, M.H. Appellant Shannon Lee Hedrick ("Shannon") is M.H.'s natural mother. Gordon and Shannon have never been married. At the time of M.H.'s birth, Gordon and Shannon signed a voluntary acknowledgment of paternity ("VAP") stating that Gordon "is the biological father" of M.H. That statement was proven wrong when a genetic test revealed that Gordon has a 0.00% probability of paternity. Hence Shannon moved to dismiss Gordon's custody complaint and challenged the VAP on the basis of a "material mistake of fact" under Section 7-1106(2) of the Idaho Paternity Act. Based on Gordon's nonpaternity, the magistrate dismissed his action and ordered his name removed from M.H.'s birth certificate.

On appeal, the district court reversed the magistrate. Based on principles of contract law, the district court interpreted "material mistake of fact" to mean a mistake that is mutual and completely unexpected by both parties. In effect, the district court found the VAP conclusive and incontestable, regardless of later genetic testing. That holding does not conform with the Paternity Act and undermines Idaho law governing domestic relationships. Under the Paternity Act's plain and unambiguous language, a genetic test proving nonpaternity conclusively rebuts the presumption of paternity and is proof of a material mistake of fact. Otherwise, Gordon would remain M.H.'s "biological father" and have legal standing to custody to M.H. despite his status as an unmarried, nonbiological man who is not an adoptive parent.

Because Gordon is not M.H.'s biological father, the district court erred when it reversed the magistrate's order dismissing Gordon's custody action and removing his name from the birth certificate. The Court should overturn the district court's decision and remand this matter to the magistrate for dismissal.

### B. Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings.

1. After M.H.'s Birth, Shannon and Gordon Signed an Acknowledgment of Paternity and Identified Gordon as the "Biological Father."

Shannon and Gordon began living together in April 2010. R. at  $35 \, (\P \, 4)^{.1}$  Just before their relationship began, Shannon was intimate with another male friend. *Id.* ( $\P \, 5$ ). According to Shannon, "my intimate relationship[s] with both Roger and my other male friend were in close proximity to the time of conception." *Id.* ( $\P \, 6$ ). Shannon gave birth to M.H. in 2010. *Id.* at 64. The following day, Shannon and Gordon signed an Acknowledgment of Paternity Affidavit, stating that Gordon "is the biological father" of M.H and consenting to the recording of Gordon's name on M.H.'s birth certificate. *See id.* at 63.

For the next two years, Shannon and Gordon lived together with M.H. in the same home. See id. at 6 (¶ I), 21 (¶ 4(a)). Shannon and Gordon have never been married. See id. at 7 (¶ III), 20 (¶ 2). According to a parenting assessment, Gordon worked while Shannon stayed home to care for M.H. See id. at 205 (Ex. at 1, 4 ("Although Mr. Gordon reports that he was involved in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Clerk's Record is cited as "R." The Clerk's Record also includes, as exhibits, transcripts from hearings held on July 25, 2013 and October 3, 2013. *See* R. at 205. The Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings is a transcript from a May 1, 2014 hearing. For ease of reference, the transcripts are cited as "Tr.," followed by the hearing date, *e.g.*, "Tr. at 4:2-4 (July 25, 2013)."

[M.H.]'s care, it appears that Shannon Hedrick was the primary caregiver.")).<sup>2</sup> The assessment also found that Shannon and Gordon had a troubled, volatile relationship, which had a negative impact on M.H. *See id.* (Ex. at 3-8). Nothing in the record below shows that Gordon adopted M.H. or obtained legal custody of M.H. during his short time living with Shannon.

# 2. Gordon Filed This Action, and the Magistrate Ordered a Genetic Test, Which Showed Gordon Is Not M.H.'s Biological Father.

On February 28, 2013, Shannon obtained a Civil Protection Order against Gordon and moved herself and M.H. into a women's shelter. *See id.* at 21 (¶ 4(b)), 30. On March 1, 2013, Gordon filed this action *pro se*, seeking custody of M.H based on the allegation that he was M.H.'s biological father. *See id.* at 6-9, 7 (¶ V). Shannon answered and counterclaimed for legal and physical custody of M.H. *Id.* at 20. As part of her counterclaim, Shannon alleged that Gordon "has frequently stated he doubts he is the child's parent. Genetic testing of the parties and child should be done to confirm parentage before entry of further orders." *Id.* at 20. Gordon, now represented by legal counsel, denied that allegation. *Id.* at 30.

The magistrate appointed an expert to complete a parenting assessment. *Id.* at 25. The expert submitted a Brief Focused Assessment to the magistrate on May 30, 2013. *See id.* at 205 (Evaluation of Brianne Asumendi-Topmiller). In the meantime, Shannon filed a motion seeking an order requiring a genetic test to determine the paternity of M.H., pursuant to Idaho Code § 7-1116. *Id.* at 31-32. Gordon did not oppose the motion, *see generally id.* at 1-2, and the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The parenting assessment, the Evaluation of Brianne Asumendi-Topmiller, is included in the record as a confidential exhibit. *See* R. at 205.

magistrate granted it, *id.* at 36A-36B. Dr. Karl-Hans Wurzinger, a qualified expert in the field of paternity testing, performed the test and found the probability of Gordon's paternity of M.H. was "0.00%." *Id.* at 40-41. According to Dr. Wurzinger, "[t]hese results indicate that ROGER GORDON is not the biological father of the child ...." *Id.* at 40.

## 3. Based on the Genetic Test Results, the Magistrate Dismissed Gordon's Action and Ordered His Name Removed from M.H.'s Birth Certificate.

Based on the results of the genetic test, Shannon filed a motion to dismiss Gordon's complaint for failure to state a claim pursuant to Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure ("I.R.C.P.") 12(b)(6), to remove his name from M.H.'s birth certificate, and to have a new birth certificate issued. *Id.* at 37-38. Dr. Wurzinger's affidavit and the genetic test results accompanied the motion. *Id.* at 40-45. Gordon filed no written objection to that motion either. *See generally id.* at 2; Tr. at 4-5 (July 25, 2013). Nor did Gordon contest the results of Dr. Wurzinger's genetic test. *See id.* After hearing the motion, the magistrate dismissed Gordon's complaint and ordered the removal of his name from the birth certificate. *See* R. at 46-47; Tr. at 4-5 (July 25, 2013).

Gordon appealed to the district court. R. at 48. A week later, he moved the magistrate for relief from judgment pursuant to I.R.C.P. 60(b)(1), (2), (3), (4), and (6). *Id.* at 59-61. As part of that motion, Gordon also requested that his complaint for custody be consolidated with a separate action, a Petition for Guardianship, that he filed *pro se* on June 24, 2013. *Id.* The magistrate denied the motion for relief from judgment and the request to consolidate the guardianship action. *See* Tr. at 11 (Oct. 3, 2013); R. at 101-102. Gordon filed an amended notice of appeal. R. at 97.

4. Based on Principles of Contract Law, the District Court Reversed the Magistrate and Held Paternity Was Conclusively Established Absent Proof of a Mutual Mistake That Is Completely Unexpected.

After the magistrate filed a proper final judgment, *id.* at 167, the district court heard Gordon's appeal. Tr. at 5-57 (May 1, 2014). On May 14, 2014, the district court entered a decision reversing the magistrate's dismissal of the custody action. R. at 174-175. According to the district court, to disestablish paternity under the Paternity Act on the basis of "material mistake of fact," the mistake must be completely unexpected to both parties. *Id.* at 172-173. Citing contract law, the district court concluded that in the absence of proof that Shannon and Gordon were mutually mistaken as to the true facts, "the birth certificate as issued is conclusive and incontestable, regardless of the later genetic testing." *Id.* at 173-174.

Shannon filed the instant appeal on June 3, 2014, *id.* at 177, and Gordon cross-appealed on June 25, 2014, *id.* at 197. Thereafter, Gordon filed an Amended Complaint for Custody, Visitation and Support, *id.* at 182, which Shannon answered, *id.* at 204A.

### 5. Nicholas Bobos Is M.H.'s Biological Father.

Since Gordon filed this action, Shannon and M.H. have resided in Nevada. *Id.* at 183-184 (¶ 5(a)), 204C (¶ VII(a)). Nicholas Bobos ("Bobos") was identified as M.H.'s biological father. *Id.* at 184 (¶ 5(d)), 204C (¶ VII(d)). A custody action between Shannon and Bobos is currently pending in the Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, in and for the County of Washoe as Case No. FV14-01686. *Id.* at 184 (¶ 5(c), (d)), 204C (¶ VII(c), (d)).

#### II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the district court err in interpreting a "material mistake of fact" under Idaho Code § 7-1106(2) based on principles of contract law to mean a mutual mistake that was completely unexpected by both parties?
- 2. Did the district court err when it reversed the magistrate's dismissal of Gordon's custody action when genetic testing conclusively established that Gordon is not M.H.'s biological father?

### III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

District Court's Decision: When reviewing a decision made by the district court in its appellate capacity, the Court does not directly review the magistrate's decision but the district court's decision. *Idaho Dep't of Health & Welfare v. McCormick*, 153 Idaho 468, 470, 283 P.3d 785, 787 (2012), *cert. denied*, 133 S. Ct. 1632 (2013). To determine if the district court erred in reversing the magistrate, the Court independently reviews the record before the magistrate "to determine whether there is substantial and competent evidence to support the magistrate's findings of fact and whether the magistrate's conclusions of law follow from those findings." *Bailey v. Bailey*, 153 Idaho 526, 529, 284 P.3d 970, 973 (2012) (quoting *Losser v. Bradstreet*, 145 Idaho 670, 672, 183 P.3d 758, 760 (2008)). The Court reviews questions of law, such as the interpretation of a statute and its meaning, de novo. *McCormick*, 153 Idaho at 470, 283 P.3d at 787; *In re Adoption of Doe*, 156 Idaho 345, \_\_\_, 326 P.3d 347, 350 (2014).

Summary Judgment: The standard of review for a dismissal on summary judgment is the same standard used by the trial court.<sup>3</sup> *Goodman v. Lothrop*, 143 Idaho 622, 626, 151 P.3d 818, 822 (2007). Summary judgment is appropriate "if the pleadings, deposition, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." I.R.C.P. 56(c). The Court must view all facts and inferences from the record in favor of the nonmoving party. *Goodman*, 143 Idaho at 626, 151 P.3d at 822. Judgment is appropriate if the nonmoving party fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element that is essential to its case, and on which it will bear the burden of proof at trial. *Badell v. Beeks*, 115 Idaho 101, 102, 765 P.2d 126, 127 (1988) (citing *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317 (1986)).

Motion for Relief from Judgment: The standard of review for a motion for relief from a judgment under I.R.C.P. 60(b) turns on which subsection of the rule is invoked. *Berg v. Kendall*, 147 Idaho 571, 576, 212,P.3d 1001, 1006 (2009). If discretionary grounds are asserted, the standard of review is for abuse of discretion. *Id.* In that situation, the Court must examine whether the trial court (1) recognized the issue as discretionary, (2) acted within the boundaries of its discretion and consistent with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it, and (3) reached its decision through an exercise of reason. *Id.* If the appellant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> While Shannon moved to dismiss Gordon's complaint pursuant to I.R.C.P. 12(b)(6), she did so based on Dr. Wurzinger's affidavit and finding of nonpaternity. Because the magistrate considered the affidavit in its ruling, the decision should be treated as granting summary judgment. *See Goodman v. Lothrop*, 143 Idaho 622, 626, 151 P.3d 818, 822 (2007). Even so, on appeal, the standard of review for a dismissal under I.R.C.P. 12(b)(6) is the same standard of review applied in I.R.C.P. 56. *Losser*, 145 Idaho at 672-73, 183 P.3d at 760-61.

asserts nondiscretionary grounds under Rule 60(b), the question presented is one of law, and the Court exercises free review. *Id.* 

### IV. ARGUMENT

Before a trial judge can determine custody as allowed under the Idaho Paternity Act, Idaho Code § 7-1101, et seq., it must make a finding of paternity. See Idaho Code § 7-1102. Here the magistrate rescinded the VAP signed by Shannon and Gordon based on a finding of nonpaternity and grounds of a material mistake of fact. On that basis, the magistrate dismissed Gordon's custody action and ordered his name removed from M.H.'s birth certificate. Because Gordon has no parental rights, he cannot demonstrate an injury in fact and thus has no standing to maintain a custody action. See, e.g., Doe v. Roe, 142 Idaho 202, 204, 127 P.3d 105, 107 (2005) (considering threshold question of whether biological father had parental rights that must be terminated in action to terminate parental rights). The magistrate was correct to dismiss this action, and the district court erred in reversing that judgment.

# A. The Idaho Paternity Act Establishes Procedures for the Voluntary Acknowledgment of Paternity in Accordance with Federal Law.

Chapter 7, Title IV, Part D of the Social Security Act ("Title IV-D") creates a child support enforcement program that the states must comply with to obtain federal funding for their public assistance programs. *See* 42 U.S.C. § 651, *et seq*. Under Title IV-D, states are required to establish expedited procedures to establish paternity and financial responsibility for a child. *Id*. §§ 654(20), 666. Procedures include "a simple civil process for voluntarily acknowledging paternity." *Id*. § 666(a)(5)(C)(i). States must give the mother and putative father notice "of the alternatives to, the legal consequences of, and the rights ... and responsibilities that arise from,

signing the acknowledgment," *id.*, establish a "hospital-based program for the voluntary acknowledgment of paternity," *id.* § 666(a)(5)(C)(ii), and develop "an affidavit for the voluntary acknowledgment of paternity," *id.* § 666(a)(5)(C)(iv). *See also* 45 C.F.R. § 302.70(a)(5)(iii).

Title IV-D requires a signed VAP be "considered a legal finding of paternity, subject to the right of any signatory to rescind the acknowledgment" within 60 days. 42 U.S.C. § 666(a)(5)(D)(ii)(I). After that period, state procedures must provide that a "signed voluntary acknowledgment of paternity may be challenged in court only on the basis of fraud, duress, or material mistake of fact, with the burden of proof upon the challenger." *Id.* § 666(a)(5)(D)(iii). Federal law also requires states to implement "[p]rocedures under which the voluntary acknowledgment of paternity creates a rebuttable or, at the option of the State, conclusive presumption of paternity, and under which such voluntary acknowledgment is admissible as evidence of paternity." 45 C.F.R. § 302.70(a)(5)(iv).

Genetic testing also plays a role under the federal requirements. Title IV-D requires procedures that allow, in certain cases, the genetic testing of the child and all other parties upon the request of a party. 42 U.S.C. § 666(a)(5)(B). State procedures must allow the admission of the results of a genetic test into evidence and must address when and how objections to the results can be made. *See id.* § 666(a)(5)(F). In addition, states must establish "[p]rocedures which create a rebuttable or, at the option of the State, conclusive presumption of paternity upon genetic testing results indicating a threshold probability that the alleged father is the father of the child." *Id.* § 666(a)(5)(G).

Idaho implements the requirements of Title IV-D through its Paternity Act. Under Idaho Code § 7-1106(1), "[a] voluntary acknowledgment of paternity for an Idaho birth shall be admissible as evidence of paternity and shall constitute a legal finding of paternity upon the filing of a signed and notarized acknowledgment with" the Idaho Bureau of Vital Records and Health Statistics (the "Bureau of Vital Records"). In effect, the provision allows an executed VAP to be filed "in lieu of contested paternity proceedings." *Johnson v. Studley-Preston*, 119 Idaho 1055, 1059 n.1, 812 P.2d 1216, 1220 n.1 (1991) (citing earlier version of Section 7-1106).

The Paternity Act also prescribes procedures to disestablish paternity. The statute allows any party to the acknowledgment to file a notarized rescission within 60 days. Idaho Code § 7-1106(1)(a). After the 60-day period, "an executed acknowledgment of paternity may be challenged only in court on the basis of fraud, duress, or material mistake of fact, with the burden of proof upon the party challenging the acknowledgment." Idaho Code § 7-1106(2). The Bureau of Vital Records must create forms for acknowledging paternity and nonpaternity. Idaho Code § 7-1106(4).

The Paternity Act also provides that evidence relating to paternity may include the results of genetic testing. Idaho Code § 7-1115(3), (4). "The court may, and upon request of a party shall, require the child, mother, alleged father ... to submit to genetic tests." Idaho Code § 7-1116(1). Genetic testing must be performed by a qualified expert, and a party may challenge the admission of the expert's report before trial or request that independent tests be performed by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Bureau of Vital Records is an agency of the Idaho Department of Health and Welfare. *See* <a href="http://www.healthandwelfare.idaho.gov/?tabid=82">http://www.healthandwelfare.idaho.gov/?tabid=82</a>.

other qualified experts. *See id.* Testing that excludes any male witness from possible paternity is "conclusive evidence of nonpaternity." Idaho Code § 7-1116(5). If the court finds nonpaternity based on the expert's conclusions, "the question of paternity shall be resolved accordingly, and the action shall be dismissed." Idaho Code § 7-1118.

- B. The District Court Erred in Holding That Shannon Must Show a "True Mutual Mistake Had Been Made by Both Parties" to Disestablish Paternity Under Idaho Code § 7-1106(2).
  - 1. Interpreting the Plain, Unambiguous Language of Idaho Code § 7-1106(2) and the Paternity Act as a Whole Shows the Statute Does Not Require a Mutual or Completely Unexpected Mistake.

The district court erred as a matter of law holding that the magistrate must find a "true mutual mistake had been made by both parties" before setting aside the VAP signed by Shannon and Gordon. *See* R. 172. According to the district court, "material mistake" under Idaho Code § 7-1106(2) "must mean a *mutual* material mistake. It must be shown that *both parties truly believed* that the named father was the actual father of the child, to the exclusion of all others. The discovery that he was not must come as a *completely unexpected revelation*." *Id.* at 173 (emphases added; internal citations omitted). Thus the district found that unless "both parties were mutually mistaken as to the true facts ... the birth certificate as issued is conclusive and incontestable, regardless of the later genetic testing." *Id.* at 173-174.

The district court's error can be traced to its failure to follow basic principles of statutory interpretation. Statutory interpretation begins with the statute's literal words. *In re Adoption of Doe*, 156 Idaho at \_\_\_\_, 326 P.3d at 351. The provisions should not be read in isolation but interpreted in the context of the entire statute and considered as a whole. *McCormick*, 153 Idaho

at 472, 283 P.3d at 789. Where that language is unambiguous, the Court does not engage in statutory construction but gives effect to the statute as written. *Id.*; Idaho Code § 73-113(1). The words of the statute should be given their plain and ordinary meaning, "unless a contrary legislative purpose is expressed or the plain meaning creates an absurd result." *Doe v. Boy Scouts of Am.*, 148 Idaho 427, 430, 224 P.3d 494, 497 (2009).

The Paternity Act does not define "material mistake of fact," and the Idaho appellate courts have not defined the words within the context of the statute. But the statute is not ambiguous with respect to disestablishing paternity. It states that an executed VAP filed with the Bureau of Vital Records is "a legal finding of paternity." Idaho Code § 7-1106(1). The statute itself then provides the means to set aside an executed VAP, first allowing any party to a VAP to rescind it within 60 days. Idaho Code § 7-1106(1)(a). After the 60-day period, "an executed acknowledgment of paternity may be challenged only in court on the basis of fraud, duress, or material mistake of fact, with the burden of proof upon the party challenging the acknowledgment." Idaho Code § 7-1106(2). The statutes also establishes procedures for the use of genetic test results. See, e.g., Idaho Code § 7-1116.

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