Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-8-2014

Gordon v. Hedrick Respondent's Brief Dckt. 42191

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

IV. ARGUMENT ON ISSUES RAISED BY CROSS APPELLANT

1. The magistrate court abused its discretion, and the District Court should have found so, when it dismissed the case, removed the Plaintiff from the birth certificate, dismissed Plaintiff's custody order and Plaintiff's Motion for Relief from Judgment in violation of Idaho Code 7-1106(2) and IRCP 7(b)(1) as Defendant failed to cite statutory, case law or any basis in law for such dismissal and failed to provide any evidentiary support of "fraud, duress or material mistake of fact" as required by Idaho Code 7-1106(2).

Despite Hedrick's representation in her opening brief, "Statement of the Case" that in her Summary Judgment she, "moved to dismiss Gordon's custody complaint and challenged the VAP on the basis of 'material mistake of fact' under Section 7-1106(2) of the Idaho Paternity Act", R. 37-45, attached as Exhibit A for reference, failed to even cite

Idaho Code § 7-1106, let alone allege mistake of fact or provide any arguments or citations of the record to support her allegations of mistake.

When filing a motion for summary judgment, the moving party must notify the opposing party of the particular grounds for the motion. The motion must "state with particularity the grounds therefore including the number of the applicable civil rule, if any, under which it is filed, and shall set forth the relief or order sought." Idaho R. Civ. P. 7(b)(1). "If a ground for summary judgment is not stated with particularity in the moving papers, the opposing party need not address that ground. For purposes of summary judgment, the moving party bears the initial burden of proving the absence of material fact issues." *Nava v. Rivas-Del Toro*, 151 Idaho 853, 862-63 (2011). As Hedrick's motion for summary judgment failed to assert any grounds for which it could be granted, it failed to meet this standard and Plaintiff could not address those grounds.

The Idaho Supreme Court, in referring to IRCP 7(b)(1) in *Patton v Patton*, 88 Idaho 288, 292 (Idaho 1965):

In *Steingut*, supra, it was stated that 'There should be strict compliance with the rules, otherwise they will be whittled away and become meaningless and unenforceable' Further, practice demands that the basis of the motion and the relief sought shall be clearly stated If this be done to the end that the other party may not assert surprise or prejudice, the requirement is met *Monjar v Higgins*, *D.C.*, 39 F Supp 633 (1941) And, where it fails to state with particularity, then it is not in conformity with the Rules *Trammell v Fidelity & Casualty Co of New York*, *D.C.*, 45 F.Supp. 366 (1942).

The Supreme Court in *Patton* reversed a custody order because the record of the trial court was vacant of any evidence to support the claims outlined in the complaints.

The Idaho Appellate Court stated in *Mason v. Tucker and Associates*, 125 Idaho 429,432. (Idaho App. 1994) the following:

Rule 7(b)(1), I.R.C.P.., requires notice to the nonmoving party of the grounds for a motion. It states: "An application to the court for an order shall be by motion which shall state with particularity the grounds therefore "In Patton v Patton, 88 Idaho 288, 292, 399 P 2d 262, 264 (1965), our Supreme Court noted that this requirement of particularity in Rule 7(b)(1) is "real and substantial" and good practice "demands that the basis of a motion and the relief sought shall be clearly stated" so that the other party may not complain of surprise or prejudice The Supreme Court then reversed the trial court's order, which had modified the child support provisions of a divorce decree following a show cause hearing, because the show cause order had given notice only of an issue as to child custody and not as to child support Similarly, in Hellickson v Jenkins, 118 Idaho 273, 796 P 2d 150 (Ct App 1990), we held that the magistrate erred in considering evidence outside the pleadings on a motion under I R C P 12(b)(6) without expressly converting the motion to one for summary judgment under I R C P 56 and giving the parties a reasonable opportunity to present evidence pertinent to a summary judgment motion See also Kelly v Hodges, 119 Idaho 872, 876, 811 P 2d 48, 52 (Ct App 1991) (vacating summary judgment entered on counterclaim where the motion had requested judgment only on the plaintiffs complaint) We do not suggest that summary judgment may never be entered by a court sun sponte or on grounds other than those raised by the moving party. However, in such event, the party against whom the judgment will be entered must be given adequate advance notice and an opportunity to demonstrate why summary judgment should not be entered See WRIGHT, MILLER & KANE, IOA FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE § 2720 at 27-28

Gordon was not given adequate notice or opportunity to respond to prevent the permanent removal of M.H. herein. The Idaho Appellate court in *Fournier v Fournier*,125 Idaho 789, 791-92 (Idaho App. 1994) upheld such statute and dismissed an order from a Magistrate that was upheld by the District Court because of the violation of IRCP 7(b)(1).

The opportunity to be heard and advance legal argument on dispositive issues is essential to proper procedure As stated above, I R C P 7(b)(1) requires that some notice be provided to a nonmoving party of the grounds upon which a motion is based. In *Patton v. Patton*, 88 Idaho 288, 292,399 P.2d 262, 264 (1965), the Idaho Supreme Court stated that practice "demands that the basis of a motion and the relief sought shall be clearly stated" so that the other party may not complain of surprise or prejudice. See Mason v. Tucker, 125 Idaho 429, 432,871 P.2d 846, 849 (Ct App

1994) Therefore, any theory upon which an award of attorney fees is based, either used in the trial court to award fees or selected on appeal as the "correct theory" to uphold a correct result, must be advanced at the trial level by the party seeking fees If a particular statute, rule or contract is not advanced below, it cannot be the basis for upholding the award later on appeal.

Further, the decision cannot be based on arguments or facts not before the court. This court recently clarified in *Westby v. Schaefer and Mercy Medical Center*, Docket No. 40587, 2014 Opinion No. 121, page 10, that a court cannot base its decision on arguments not supported by affidavits or facts not before the court. The only argument in the Summary Judgment was that Gordon was not the biological father; however, such argument or basis is not allowed under the clear language of Idaho Code 7-1106(2), which only allows removal from the birth certificate if the moving party establishes "fraud, duress, or material mistake of fact".

As stated by the District Court:

"Idaho law is clear that once a birth certificate is issued upon affidavits of paternity, and once the time for contesting the affidavits has expired, a duly issued birth certificate can only be set aside for specific reasons. Under I.C. § 7-1106, the birth certificate becomes conclusive as to the issue of paternity, and may only be avoided upon grounds of fraud, duress or material mistake. In this case, there was no evidence offered to the magistrate below other than the genetic test results.

R. 171, L. 9-15. Hedrick's argument relating to biology may be relevant to establish affiliation and parentage, but it is not relevant to removal of a party from the birth certificate and to terminate parental rights once established under Idaho Code § 7-1106. The voluntary acknowledgment of paternity (VAP) signed by Gordon and Hedrick constituted a legal finding of paternity. The only evidence presented with the Summary Judgment at issue and considered by the Magistrate was Dr. Wurzinger's affidavit and paternity findings. The Magistrate Court erred as a matter of law or abused its discretion

when it granted a motion for summary judgment despite the motion's failure to notify Gordon of the grounds for the motion.

2. The Magistrate erred or abused its discretion, and the District Court should have ruled so, when it dismissed Plaintiff's case despite the fact that Defendant failed to cite IRCP 56(c) in her Motion to Dismiss, failed to give notice to Plaintiff of his right to under IRCP 56(c) to 28 days notice before the hearing, and failed to give Plaintiff twenty eight days in violation of IRCP 56(c).

I.R.C.P. 56(c) gives the non-moving party 28 days notice before a hearing. Just as with I.R.C.P. 7(b)1, strict compliance with this rule is important. This Court dealt with a violation of this rule previously when it reversed a district court's ruling and held that a summary judgment was improper because *Saykhamchone* "was not given proper notice" of the time available to present evidence to counter the evidence of the motion for summary judgment as the motion did not include the proper rule of civil procedure in violation of IRCP 7(b)(1). *Saykhamchone v. State*, 900 P. 2d 795, 127 Idaho 319 (Idaho 1995). The court stated:

However, if Saykhamchone had been given a twenty-day notice of the district court's "intention to dismiss the application and its reasons for so doing," Saykhamchone might have been able to respond in a way that would raise a genuine issue of material fact. I.C. § 19-4906(b) (emphasis added) ("In light of the reply ... the court may ... grant leave to file an amended application or, direct that the proceedings otherwise continue.") Likewise, if the state had filed a motion for summary disposition, Saylthamchone's reply might have been able to raise a genuine issue of material fact.

In the case currently before the Court, no motion to shorten time was made or granted to Hedrick, neither did Gordon stipulate to such. The record reflects the opposite as Gordon objected to the hearing and provided a detailed list of the objections before the Magistrate in Gordon's Motion for Relief from Judgment / Motion for Reconsideration R. 59-66 with the newly acquired evidence. Gordon's Motion for Relief from the

Judgment contained obvious and serious legal issues that should have been addressed by the court which included the termination of any parental rights that were legally established under Idaho Code 7-1106. Further, courts have noted there are circumstances in which an appellate court is justified in resolving an issue not passed on below, where the court finds "plain error" or "fundamental error." "The plain error principle is best understood as a device for mitigating the harshness of the adversary system, serving as a safety valve or an anchor to windward. Plain error is commonly described as constituting only mistakes that are obvious, serious, ...egregious, substantial, manifest, highly prejudicial or grave." Christopher B. Mueller and Laird C. Kirkpatrich, *Evidence* at 29 (1999) citing *United States v. Young*, 470 U.S. 1 (1984); see also *Herzog v. United States*, 235 F.2d 664, 666 (9th Cir. 1956) The Court also will allow such issues as where the proper resolution is beyond any doubt, or where, 'injustice might otherwise result." *Singleton v. Wulff*, 428 U.S. 106, 121 (1975).

The magistrates application of the incorrect legal standard removing Appellant from the life of a minor child would constitute a manifest injustice and legal issues are common exceptions to the rule that issues not passed on below will not be reviewed by the courts of appeals. see, Colorado Interstate Corp v. CIT Group/Equipment Fin., Inc, 993 F.2d 743, 751 (10th Cir. 1993); In Re McLean Indus., Inc., 30 F.3d 385, 387 (2d Cir. 1994) (per curiam) (we reserve 'considerable discretion' to review purely legal questions not formally raised in the district court."). The Ninth Circuit has held in Turner v. Duncan, 158 F.3d 449 (9th Cir. 1998) that waivers of questions of law are not automatically waived if not raised as are to objections to waivers of questions of law. In Jones v. Wood, 207 F.3d 557 (9th Cir. 2000), the Ninth Circuit stated that "[f]ailure to

object to a magistrate judge's recommendation waives all objections to the judge's findings of fact. (Citation omitted) However, in this circuit, failure to object generally does not waive objections to purely legal conclusions. (Citation omitted)." Id. at 562 n.2. In *Turner v. Duncan*, 158 F.3d 449 (9th Cir. 1998), the Ninth Circuit similarly stated "[f]ailure to object to a magistrate judge's recommendation waives all objections to the magistrate judge's findings of fact. (Citations omitted.) While in most other circuits, failure to object also waives any objection to purely legal conclusions (citations omitted) that is ordinarily not the case in this circuit. (Citation omitted) Rather, a failure to object to such a conclusion 'is a factor to be weighed in considering the propriety of finding a waiver of an issue on appeal.' " Id. at 455.

Hedrick's brief incorrectly cited to Idaho Code 7-1115 and 7-1116 (Proceedings to Establish Paternity) and alleged incorrectly The Idaho Paternity Act "allows and gives great weight to genetic evidence as evidence of non-paternity and does not prohibit those signing an acknowledgment from seeking such evidence." Defendant failed to cite the correct section for removal from the birth certificate and failed to point out that Idaho Code 7-1106(2) does not consider genetic evidence as a basis for removal from the birth certificate or from the "legal finding of paternity". Genetic testing is relevant to establish paternity, however, once the "legal finding of paternity" has been found under Idaho Code 7-1106(2) does not consider genetic testing.

The Magistrate Court erred as a matter of law or abused its discretion when it granted a motion for summary judgment that failed to advise Gordon of this 28 day time period at hearing just fifteen days after the filing of the motion.

3. The District Court erred or abused its discretion when it considered Defendant's new arguments raised for the first time on appeal.

The Appellate court review is "limited to the evidence, theories and arguments that were presented ... below." *State v. Vierra*, 125 Idaho 465, 469 (Idaho App.1994). Consequently, appellate courts will not consider new arguments raised for the first time on appeal. *Dominguez ex rel. Hamp v. Evergreen Resources, Inc.*, 142 Idaho 7 (2005). Hedrick's only argument presented in their Summary Judgment and at the hearing on dismissal was that the Plaintiff was not the biological father. Any additional arguments not raised previously are not properly before this Court. The recent Idaho Supreme Court Decision on the 19th of September 2014, Docket 41889, *Brown and Hopson v. Greenhart*, Boise, 2014 Opinion No. 100 again stated, "An issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal." *Bank of Commerce v. Jefferson Enters., LLC*, 154 Idaho 824, 828, 303 P.3d 183, 187 (2013)."

Hedrick alleged for the first time on appeal in its District Court Brief R. 143 p. 3 that she met the burden of IC 7-1106(2), despite not citing such standard in the Summary Judgment, despite not citing the elements in the Summary Judgment, and despite not alleging facts to support the requirements of IC 7-1106(2); nevertheless she alleged additional facts and arguments for the first time on appeal that the Summary Judgment was based on "a material mistake of fact as to the acknowledgment of paternity-".

Hedrick also argued for the first time after the appeal that the custody of M.H. should be had by the biological father as raised in Hedrick's objection to Gordon's request for temporary custody pending appeal. However, such arguments are contrary to established law and not relevant to the original hearing. This Court has stated "Mere

biology does not create a father with legal rights and responsibilities to a minor child." *Idaho Dep't of Health & Welfare v. Doe*, 150 Idaho 88, 90, 244 P.3d 232, 234 (2010) (quoting *Doe v. Roe*, 142 Idaho 202, 205, 127 P.3d 105, 108 (2005))."

Gordon's brought to the District Court's attention that issues and arguments not raised below and presented for the first time on appeal will not be considered or reviewed and cited *Sandpoint Convalescent Servs., Inc. v. Idao Dep't of Health and Welfare*, 114 Idaho 281, 284 (1988) R. 154; however, Defendant herein continues to raise new facts, arguments, and issues not previously raised in the Summary Judgment. Therefore, any additional facts, arguments, or issues addressed not previously raised are not properly before this Court and Plaintiff asks that this Court not consider such.

4. The District Court err or abuse its discretion when it failed to grant Plaintiff attorney fees in spite of Defendant's failure to comply with the obligation of candor and pursuit of their motion without any basis in law and fact?

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